Pharmacological interventions against myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion injury

Lars Karlsson, MD

Department of Molecular and Clinical Medicine

Institute of Medicine at Sahlgrenska Academy

University of Gothenburg

Sweden



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Gothenburg 2011

Pharmacological interventions against myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion injury

© Lars Karlsson 2011

lars.o.karlsson@vgregion.se

ISBN 978-91-628-8373-7

Printed in Gothenburg, Sweden 2011

Printed by Geson Hylte Tryck, Göteborg, Sweden 2011

Pharmacological interventions against myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion injury

Lars O Karlsson, Department of Molecular and Clinical Medicine, Institute of Medicine at Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

ABSTRACT

Background: Although the concept of early restoration of coronary bloodflow constitutes an important factor to reduce the injury caused by myocardial ischaemia, reperfusion in itself can aggravate the damage to myocardial tissue, a phenomenon denoted myocardial reperfusion injury.

Aims: To investigate whether two different pharmacological interventions, cyclosporine A (CsA) and the novel enkephalin analogue EP 94, could confer cardioprotection in porcine models of myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion. Furthermore, to examine the distribution of the opioid receptor subtypes in the porcine heart, and to investigate how this expression is affected by ischaemia and reperfusion.

Methods: Anesthetised pigs underwent balloon occlusion of the left anterior descending coronary artery, followed by reperfusion. CsA and EP 94 were administered at reperfusion and hearts stained to measure infarct size. mRNA and protein expression of pro-apoptotic proteins, endothelial NO-synthetase and opioid receptor subtypes was quantified in the control and ischaemic/reperfused areas.

Results: Two different dosages of CsA did not confer cardioprotection whereas EP 94 reduced myocardial infarct size in a dose-dependant manner. Protein expression of the κ - and δ -opioid receptors was detected in the left ventricle, with an up-regulation of the δ subtype after ischemia and reperfusion. The μ -opioid receptor was not detected.

Conclusions: CsA did not reduce myocardial infarct size, whereas the novel enkephalin analogue EP 94 conferred cardioprotection in different porcine models. The κ - and δ -opioid receptors were detected in the pig left ventricle.

Keywords: myocardial ischemia, reperfusion injury, opioids, cyclosporine A

ISBN: 978-91-628-8373-7

LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following studies:

I

Karlsson LO, Zhou AX, Larsson E, Åström-Olsson K, Akyürek LM, Grip L.

Cyclosporine does not reduce myocardial infarct size in a porcine ischemiareperfusion model.

J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 2010 Jun; 15(2): 182-9

Π

Karlsson LO, Bergh N, Grip L

Cyclosporine A, 2,5 mg/kg, does not reduce myocardial infarct size in a porcine model of ischemia and reperfusion

J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 2011 Maj 13. (Epub ahead of print)

Ш

Karlsson LO, Grip L, Bissessar E, Bobrova I, Gustafsson T, Kavianpour M, Odenstedt J, Wikström G, Gonon AT

Opioid receptor agonist Eribis peptide 94 reduces infarct size in different porcine models for myocardial ischemia and reperfusion

Eur J Pharmacol. 2011 Jan 25;651(1-3): 146-51

IV

Karlsson LO, Bergh N, Li L, Bissessar E, Bobrova I, Gross GJ, Akyürek LM, Grip L

Dose-dependent cardioprotection of enkephalin analogue Eribis peptide 94 and cardiac expression of opioid receptors in a porcine model of ischaemia and reperfusion

Submitted

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABBREVIATIONS | 7 |
|--|----|
| INTRODUCTION | 9 |
| Cellular effects of ischaemia | 11 |
| Reversible and irreversible reperfusion injury | 11 |
| The mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) | 12 |
| Reactive oxygen species | 14 |
| Inflammation | 15 |
| Calcium | 16 |
| Apoptosis in lethal reperfusion injury | |
| Nitric oxide | |
| Pre- and postconditioning | |
| Opioid peptides in myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion | 21 |
| Rationale for the porcine model | |
| AIMS OF THE THESIS | |
| MATERIAL & METHODS | |
| Ethics | |
| General considerations | |
| The porcine models - ischaemia and reperfusion procedure | |
| Analysis of CsA and EP 94 blood concentration | |
| Infarct size measurements | |
| Histological processing | |
| Intervention protocols and further analysis | 30 |
| Statistical analysis | |
| RESULTS | |
| Paper I | |
| Paper II | |

| Paper III | |
|---------------------------------------|--|
| Paper IV | |
| DISCUSSION | |
| Cyclosporine A in reperfusion injury | |
| The cardioprotective effect of EP 94 | |
| Opioid receptors in the porcine heart | |
| Methodological considerations | |
| CONCLUSIONS | |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENT | |
| REFERENCES | |
| APPENDIX | |

ABBREVIATIONS

| AAR | area at risk |
|--------|---------------------------------------|
| AIF | apoptosis inducing factor |
| ANT | adenine nucleotide translocase |
| ATP | adenosine triphosphate |
| CsA | cyclosporine A |
| CypD | cyclophilin D |
| ECG | electrocardiogram |
| EP 94 | eribis peptide 94 |
| IM | inner membrane |
| IPC | ischaemic preconditioning |
| IPost | ischaemic postconditioning |
| IS | infarct size |
| LAD | left anterior descending artery |
| MPTP | mitochondrial permeability transition |
| NO | nitric oxide |
| NOS | nitric oxide synthethase |
| OM | outer membrane |
| PCI | percutaenous coronary intervention |
| RISK | reperfusion injury salvage kinases |
| ROS | reactive oxygen species |
| RT-PCR | real time polymerase chain reaction |
| TTC | triphenyltertrazolium-chloride |
| | |

pore

- TUNEL terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick-end labeling
- SEM standard error of mean
- SD standard deviation

INTRODUCTION

Ischaemic heart disease is the leading cause of death in the industrialized world and an increasing problem in developing countries. The different presentations include sudden death, acute myocardial infarction, stable angina pectoris, arrhythmias and congestive heart failure. Although progress has been achieved over the last few decades for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction with the introduction of pharmacological and mechanical intervention reperfusion strategies, acute myocardial infarction remains a major cause of death and disability, making the development of further adjunctive therapies a desirable task.

In the 1970s it was concluded that early reperfusion of an occluded coronary artery could salvage myocardial tissue¹⁻². This knowledge was translated to the clinical setting with the introduction of thrombolytic therapy³⁻⁴ and, subsequently, percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI)⁵. Limitation of infarct size has since evolved as an important factor in reducing the consequences of acute myocardial infarction⁶⁻⁸. However, reperfusion *per se* can mediate negative effects, and restoration of blood flow can aggravate the damage to the myocardial tissue, a phenomenon first described by Jennings in the 1960s⁹. This concept, defined as reperfusion-induced cell injury to the cardiomyocytes still viable at the end of ischaemia, is denoted myocardial reperfusion injury¹⁰. Since the initial description, this harm has evolved as an important contributor to cardiomyocyte injury caused by acute myocardial infarction and subsequent reperfusion, with experimental models indicating this detriment to account for approximately 50% of the final infarct size¹⁰.



Figure 1. Lethal reperfusion injury. Modified after Garcia-Dorado. Cardiovascular research. (2006) 69 (1): 1-3

Classically, the injury induced to the myocardium during reperfusion is divided into four different entities: myocardial stunning, reperfusion arrhythmias, no-reflow phenomenon and lethal reperfusion injury¹⁰. Whereas these are all potentially harmful in the clinical setting, the irreversible nature of lethal reperfusion injury makes it the most interesting target in order to salvage the reperfused myocardium.

Cellular effects of ischaemia

Following acute occlusion of a coronary artery, presumably through a thrombus formation, oxygen supply to the jeopardized myocardium drops. This leads to a switch in metabolism from aerobic oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondria to anaerobic glycolysis in the cytosol, with subsequent accumulation of protons (H^{+}) and lactic acid. The tissue acidosis is followed by a gradual cessation of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production. In order to attempt to correct the intracellular acidic milieu, cardiomyocytes activate the Na⁺/H⁺antiporter in order to pump H⁺ out of the cell, resulting in a high intracellular concentration of Na⁺. Because of the lack of ATP, the Na^{+}/K^{+} ATPase works inefficiently and Na^{+} cannot be extruded. This activates the Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger in reverse mode, leading to a high intracellular concentration of Ca²⁺. Altogether, a failure of maintaining ionic homeostasis follows, resulting in cellular contracture¹¹⁻¹². Additionally, if no restoration of circulation is accomplished, the jeopardized myocardium will undergo necrosis, commencing in the endocardium after approximately 30 minutes and propagating towards the epicardium¹³⁻¹⁴; the "wavefront phenomenon"¹⁵. If, on the other hand, coronary blood flow is re-established by means of either lytic therapy, PCI or acute coronary artery bypass grafting, the oxygen makes it possible for the mitochondria to respire once again, mediating the return of ATP synthesis through oxidative phosphorylation, with possible survival of the cell.

Reversible and irreversible reperfusion injury

As mentioned above, the return of blood flow to the myocardium can also mediate reperfusion injury, classically divided into two different types: reversible and irreversible forms. The no-reflow phenomenon, defined as obstructed microvascular blood flow despite an open infarct-related artery is often characterized as both reversible and irreversible¹⁶. Myocardial stunning (characterized by a delayed recovery of myocardial function despite restoration of coronary blood flow) and reperfusion arrhythmias, on the other hand, both constitute different forms of reversible injury^{10, 17}, indicating that the return of blood flow can eventually resolve this harm. Reperfusion, however, is also followed by a pronounced production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), high intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration and restoration of normal pH. Furthermore, release of cell adhesion molecules during reperfusion mediates neutrophil aggregation. In concert, these factors are known to cause the irreversible injury known as *lethal reperfusion injury*, with the mitochondria as a possible end-effector.

Following is an overview of the different mechanisms responsible for lethal reperfusion injury and a presentation of the therapeutic interventions investigated in order to reduce this harm.

The mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP)

The mitochondria are the organelles responsible for energy supply in the cell with production of ATP through oxidative phosphorylation. They are surrounded by a membrane bilayer; the inner (IM) and outer membranes (OM), which are composed of phospholipids with different integrated proteins. The IM is folded and highly impermeable to all but a few selected metabolites and ions, whereas the OM is more permeable except for larger molecules, but it is also more rigid. Between the two membranes is the intermembrane space, which has the same ionic composition as the cytosol because of the permeability of the OM¹⁸.

Also located in the membranes is the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP), assumed to be an important participant in mitochondria function and pathology. Despite enormous attention over the last few decades, however, the definite molecular structure of the MPTP is not known¹⁹, even though recent research implicates that it consists of at least one component in the IM, adenine nucleotide translocase (ANT), and a regulatory component in the mitochondrial

cytosol, cyclophilin D (CypD). These are both thought to regulate the core component of the MPTP that spans the two membranes¹⁹.



Figure 2. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore. See text for details.

In the physiological setting MPTP remains closed, only allowing diffusion of certain molecules over the membrane bilayer. Under certain conditions, however, the MPTP opens and becomes permeable to molecules with a molecular weight < 1.5 kDa. If it remains open, this will lead to the uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation, collapse of the electrical gradient (mitochondrial transition) and, finally, the activation of proteases, nucleases and phosphatases, leading to cell necrosis. On the other hand, if the MPTP closes, the transient permeability of the membranes leads to an osmotic swelling of the mitochondria. This is well tolerated by the heavily folded IM, but may lead to rupture of the more rigid OM with a subsequent leakage of proapoptotic proteins located in the intermembrane space.²⁰.

The factors known to mediate MPTP opening include ATP depletion, oxidative stress, Ca²⁺ overload and a high concentration of inorganic phosphate, i.e. factors that are all abundant during ischaemia. The last remaining component, the rapid restoration of physiological pH, is fulfilled by the return of blood flow, and all restraints on the permeability of the mitochondrial membranes are thus removed²⁰. This would indicate that the pore remains closed during ischaemia and opens during reperfusion, a fact supported by numerous data¹⁸. In line with this knowledge the MPTP has been suggested to be a core component of lethal reperfusion injury²¹⁻²³. Furthermore, several cardioprotective interventions have been shown to inhibit MPTP opening. These include pre- and postconditioning (see below) $^{24-25}$, the antioxidant compounds pyruvate²⁶ and propofol²⁷, volatile anaesthetics²⁸ and cyclosporine A (CsA). Indeed, CsA has, since the original description by Crompton et al in 1988, served as the model compound for the inhibition of MPTP opening²⁹, possibly through binding of the regulatory component CypD. Since the initial reports, numerous experimental studies in different models have shown a cardioprotective effect with the administration of CsA at reperfusion, even though the results are disparate^{22, 30-33}.

Reactive oxygen species

ROS are molecules containing oxygen with one or more unpaired electrons, making them highly reactive and unstable. Reperfusion of the ischaemic myocardium leads to an abrupt increase in the production of ROS, and several studies implicate a pivotal role for these molecules in lethal reperfusion injury³⁴⁻³⁷. This is sometimes referred to as the "oxygen paradox", highlighting the fact that the return of oxygen aggravates the injury caused by ischaemia alone³⁸. The principle sources for the generation of ROS at reperfusion are the re-energized transport chain in the mitochondria^{10, 39}, neutrophils⁴⁰, and xanthine oxidase, with the substrates xanthine and hypoxanthine accumulating during ischaemia⁴¹⁻⁴². The injury induced by ROS

includes the consumption of nitric oxide (NO), making it impossible for this compound to exert its cardioprotective effects⁴³. Furthermore, ROS has a direct damaging effect on proteins, nucleic acids and lipids⁴⁴. Finally, as described previously, ROS is thought to mediate MPTP opening, contributing to a feedback loop of additional ROS being released from the mitochondria⁴⁵.

As in the case with MPTP, numerous interventions have been tested in order to reduce reperfusion injury by inhibiting ROS formation including: superoxide dismutase⁴⁶⁻⁴⁷, vitamin E⁴⁸, the free radical scavenger edaravone⁴⁹⁻⁵⁰, xanthine oxidase inhibitor allopurinol⁵¹ and the anti-anginal drug trimetazidine⁵². Although promising results have been presented in the preclinical setting, experience in the clinic has been largely disappointing⁵²⁻⁵⁵.

Inflammation

After restoration of coronary blood flow, complement activation, cytokines and release of ROS from endothelial cells and cardiomyocytes promote the infiltration of neutrophils into the myocardium⁵⁶⁻⁵⁷. Data from preclinical studies indicate that neutrophils accumulate in the intravascular space for the first 6 hours, whereafter they advance into the myocardium during the next 24 hours⁵⁸. Once the cells have migrated into the parenchyma they can impair the tissue in a number of ways: release of degradative proteases and ROS, microembolization in small vessels, damage to vascular endothelium and release of further mediators that attract even more neutrophils⁴⁰.

Interventions in the experimental setting reduce infarct size when neutrophils and inflammatory pathways have been targeted. Specific filters⁵⁹ and neutrophil-depleted blood⁶⁰⁻⁶¹ have been used in order to reduce the amount of neutrophils in the reperfused tissue. Additionally, antibodies against molecules responsible for cell adhesion, including CD-11⁶² and CD-18⁶³, P-selectin⁶⁴ and intracellular adhesion molecule-1⁶⁵ confer cardioprotection in different animal models. None

of these therapies, however, have proved beneficial in the clinical setting¹⁰. Indeed, the only intervention targeting the inflammatory pathway with a proven benefit in humans is adenosine, an autacoid interacting with G-protein-coupled receptors. Even though known to affect different cell types, the cardioprotective effect is most often attributed to an inhibition of neutrophil function⁴⁰. In the Amistad-II trial, an 11% reduction of infarct size was noticed with the administration of adenosine to patients undergoing acute PCI, with no proven benefit in terms of clinical outcome⁶⁶. However, in a post-hoc analysis, adenosine administered to patients with anterior infarction presenting within 3 hours enhanced early and late survival⁶⁷.

Calcium

Under basal conditions there is a 10 000-fold concentration gradient for Ca²⁺ across the plasma membrane with the highest concentration in the extracellular space, enabling a rapid increase in cytosolic Ca^{2+} in order to regulate fundamental cell functions. The negative potential on the inside of the plasma membrane further enhances this driving force for Ca^{2+} influx. The action potential in the cardiomyocyte is initiated by an influx of Na⁺, but the depolarization is prolonged through the opening of L-type Ca^{2+} channels in the sarcolemma, leading to an influx of Ca^{2+} into the cytosol. This in turn activates the ryanodine receptor in the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR), leading to the release of stored Ca²⁺ from this compartment. This "calcium-induced calcium release" leads to cross bridging between myosin and actin with muscular contraction as a consequence. Furthermore, Ca^{2+} binds to the regulatory protein calmodulin, mediating a broad regulatory action in the cell by the activation of different proteins, including serine/threonine-specific protein kinases, phosphatases and nitric oxide synthases 68.

As previously described, ATP depletion and ionic fluxes lead to high intracellular concentrations of Ca^{2+} , Na^+ and H^+ during ischaemia. At reperfusion, the return of ATP reactivates the Na^+/K^+ ATPase in the

sarcolemma and the Ca²⁺ ATPase in the SR. If the capacity to accumulate Ca²⁺ in the SR is exceeded, oscillations in Ca²⁺ concentration will commence. The cell then relies on the possibility to extrude Ca²⁺ with the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger working in "forward mode", which depends on the restoration of a transsarcolemmal gradient of Na⁺, i.e. a properly working Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase. On the other hand, if the intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration remains uncorrected, myofibrillar hypercontracture, cytoskeletal damage and MPTP opening will follow, leading to cell necrosis^{11, 18}.



Figure 3. Calcium handling in the cardiomyocyte.

As in the case with other interventions targeting lethal reperfusion injury, attenuating Ca^{2+} overload at reperfusion has been shown to reduce infarct size by approximately 50% in different animal models¹⁰. Interventions include the inhibition of L-type channels with diltiazem and clevidipine, with conflicting results in porcine models⁶⁹⁻⁷¹, and no proven benefit in humans⁷². Administration of Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger inhibitors mediates cardioprotection when administered before the

onset of ischaemia in experimental models⁷³⁻⁷⁵, but intervention at reperfusion has not conferred cardioprotection in the clinical setting^{72,} ₇₆₋₇₈

Apoptosis in lethal reperfusion injury

Programmed cell death, apoptosis, is involved in various pathologies, including ischaemic heart disease⁷⁹. The literature is, however, conflicting, in part owing to the fact that different methods have been used in order to detect apoptosis⁷⁹⁻⁸⁰. The histological morphology characteristics include chromatin condensation, DNA fragmentation, bulging of the plasma membrane (blebbing) and cell shrinkage⁸¹. The process implies phagocytosis by adjacent cells without an inflammatory reaction, a process dependent on ATP consumption⁶⁸.

There are two different pathways for apoptotic induction: extrinsic (death receptor pathway) and intrinsic (mitochondrial pathway) signaling. The former include NO, toxins, Fas ligand, and different cytokines, including tumour necrosis factor-alpha. After binding to different receptors, these activate a cascade of caspases, carrying out the programmed cell death. The intrinsic pathway can be activated by, among other mediators, viral infections, radiation and, relevant in the setting of lethal reperfusion injury, Ca^{2+} overload and hypoxia⁸². The main target for these intracellular signals is the mitochondria. As described previously, the intracellular milieu at the time for reperfusion, with Ca²⁺ overload, ATP depletion, oxidative stress and eventually restoration of physiological pH mediates opening of the MPTP²⁰. Furthermore, although not fully elucidated, the permeability of the outer mitochondrial membrane seems to be regulated by a family of proteins called the Bcl-2 group, possibly through interaction with the MPTP⁸³. The subsequent swelling of the mitochondria and, eventually, rupture of the OM leads to leakage of different proteins located in the intermembrane space, among these cytochrome C and apoptosis inducing factor (AIF)¹⁸. Cytochrome C initiates the caspase

cascade with activated caspase-3 as the end-effector⁸⁴⁻⁸⁵ whereas AIF translocates to the nucleus, causing chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation independent of caspase activation⁸⁶.



Figure 4. Apoptosis in myocardial reperfusion injury. See text for details.

There is a general agreement that apoptosis contributes to the final infarct size in acute myocardial infarction, but the extent of this injury is presently unclear. Furthermore, to what extent reperfusion *per se* or ischaemia alone mediates this harm remains a matter of debate⁷⁹⁻⁸⁰. This accounts for the fact that despite promising results from animal studies, the clinical implication for intervention against the apoptotic pathways remains elusive⁷⁹⁻⁸⁰.

Nitric oxide

NO is an important messenger molecule with the ability to control vascular tone⁸⁷. The principle source of NO formation is catalyzation of the precursors L-arginine, oxygen and NADPH by the enzyme nitric oxide synthase (NOS). There are three different isoforms of the enzyme: neuronal (nNOS) and endothelial (eNOS) which are both constitutively expressed, and the inducible isoform (iNOS)⁸⁸. Whereas high concentrations of NO react with superoxide to form the highly reactive and potentially harmful oxidant peroxynitrite, low levels confer protection in the heart after a period of ischaemia and reperfusion⁸⁹. The cardioprotective properties of NO are attributed to inhibition of neutrophil adherence to vascular endothelium, vasodilation, prevention of platelet aggregation, and reduced apoptosis through inhibition of caspase-3 activation⁹⁰⁻⁹³. The importance of NOS in this setting has also been investigated: overexpression of eNOS mediates cardioprotection, whereas deficiency of the enzyme aggravates reperfusion injury⁹⁴⁻⁹⁵. Furthermore, the different isoforms of the enzyme have been shown to play pivotal roles in pre- and postconditioning, as well as mediating the beneficial effect of pharmacological treatment with ACE- inhibitors, statins and phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors in the experimental setting⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸.

Pre- and postconditioning

Although not investigated in the present thesis, pre- and postconditioning will be briefly reviewed due to their importance in the understanding of myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion injury. In 1986, Murry et al first described that repetitive brief occlusions of a coronary artery prior to infarct induction could limit infarct size, a phenomena denoted ischaemic preconditioning (IPC)⁹⁹. This protective effect has since been repeated in numerous species, including humans¹⁰⁰. The protection consists of two different phases, an early

phase lasting for a few hours after the index ischaemia, and a second phase that appears after 12-24 hours and lasts for 2-3 days¹⁰¹. IPC was later extended to the concept of remote IPC, where repetitive periods of ischaemia to organs distant to the heart conferred protection of the myocardium during ischaemia and reperfusion¹⁰². Both interventions, however, require the preconditioning protocol to be applied before the onset of the ischaemic insult, a fact that made the concept difficult to apply in the clinical setting. In 2003, Zhao et al reported that brief episodes of ischaemia applied at the onset of reperfusion, ischaemic postconditioning (IPost), reduced infarct size in dogs¹⁰³. With the advantage of application during reperfusion, the concept was translated to the clinical setting where Staat and co-workers could report a reduction of infarct size with IPost, with an improved left ventricular ejection fraction after 1 year¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁵. These findings have later been repeated in several small clinical trials¹⁰⁶, even though the results are somewhat conflicting¹⁰⁷.

The triggers of protection that IPC and IPost are thought to recruit include, among others, adenosine, bradykinin and opioids. These in turn are thought to activate a cascade of prosurvival kinases known as the reperfusion injury salvage kinase (RISK) pathway, with subsequent closure of the mPTP and opening of mK(ATP) channels⁸⁰.

Opioid peptides in myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion

The analgesic effect of morphine via actions on the central nervous system is well known. However, the fact that myocardial tissue contains opioid receptors and is able to synthesize opioid peptides has only recently been discovered, and it is now appreciated that opioids regulate the heart during both normal conditions and disease states¹⁰⁸. The three known opioid receptors subtypes, μ , κ , and δ , are G-protein coupled receptors and associated with endorphins, dynorphins and

enkephalins, respectively. Whereas all different opioid peptides are synthesized in the myocardium¹⁰⁸, the expression of the different opioid receptor subtypes remains conflicting, with possible differences between species¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹⁰. In the rat heart, the μ-opiod receptor vanishes during adolescence¹¹¹, whereas δ- and κ-opioid receptors are expressed in adult cardiomyocytes¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴. This is quite different from the human heart, where μ- and δ-opioid receptors are expressed in both ventricles, whereas the κ-opioid receptor seems to be absent, or only vaguely expressed^{110, 115-116}. Information regarding receptor expression in other species is, to a large extent, lacking¹⁰⁹. Furthermore, how the receptor expression is affected by ischaemia and reperfusion remains largely unknown.

Apart from their analgesic effect, opioid peptides have been shown to confer cardioprotection when administered in the setting of myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion¹¹⁷. This effect is most often attributed to stimulation of the δ -opioid receptor, but all three receptor subtypes have been implicated as responsible targets¹¹⁷⁻¹²⁰. The protective effect "downstream" from receptor activation is attributed to activation of different prosurvival kinases, including phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway (PI3K), protein kinase C- δ (PKC- δ), serin-threonin kinase Akt and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK). Other pathways that have been implicated include opening of mitochondrial K(ATP) channels and the inhibition of both glycogen synthase kinase-3 ß and MPTP opening^{115, 121-126}. Furthermore, cardioprotection by other compounds targeting G-protein coupled receptors (e.g. adenosine and bradykinin) is mediated through an up-regulation of endothelial NO synthase $(eNOS)^{127-128}$. This has not, however, been investigated in the setting of opioid administration at reperfusion.



Figure 5. Proposed mechanisms for the cardioprotective effects of opioids. See text for details.

Eribis Peptide 94 (EP 94) is a novel enkephalin analogue thought to interact with the μ - and δ - opioid receptors and, to a lesser extent, with the κ -opioid receptor. In preliminary rat experiments, EP 94 confers protection against myocardial reperfusion injury when administered both during ischaemia and at reperfusion.

Rationale for the porcine model

As outlined above, impressive results regarding infarct size reduction have been obtained in animal models when applying different treatment strategies at reperfusion, with most regimens, unfortunately, failing when translated to humans^{10, 129}. Possible explanations for this discrepancy are numerous. In the experimental setting, coronary ischaemia is induced in an otherwise healthy and young (often male) animal without concurrent medication. In contrast, when examined in the clinical setting, the intervention against lethal reperfusion injury is generally administered to an elderly person with concomitant diseases requiring medication. Another difference is the genesis of myocardial ischaemia; in animal models this is most often obtained through external ligation of a coronary artery, whereas in humans a coronary occlusion is the consequence of a thrombus formation, a condition notoriously difficult to recreate in experimental models in a standardized way.

Other disparities include the administration regimen of the drug, with variation by means of the routes used and the duration of the administration. Last but not least, species differences obscure the picture; most results are obtained in mice and rat models, animals known to possess considerable differences when compared with humans. The pig, on the other hand, holds a great deal of homology with humans, having approximately the same heart size and a coronary artery anatomy that resembles humans, but without collateral development¹³⁰. Furthermore, the size of the pig makes it feasible to perform a closed-chest protocol, with the possibility to induce coronary occlusion by balloon inflation. This allows greater resemblances to the clinical situation, without external trauma through ligation of the vessel, and eliminates the possible confounder of hypothermia that can be encountered in open-chest models¹³¹⁻¹³².

Although dependent on the definition of a "positive result", one could argue that at least two known interventions against lethal reperfusion injury have demonstrated promising, but not unequivocal, results in the clinical setting, i.e. postconditioning¹⁰⁴ and adenosine⁶⁶. These interventions have also been shown to confer cardioprotection in different porcine models¹³³⁻¹³⁴, indicating this species as an attractive one before translating a possible intervention to humans. This reasoning led us to use our porcine models to examine two different interventions in order to try to reduce lethal reperfusion injury.

AIMS OF THE THESIS

- To investigate if cyclosporine A reduces infarct size and apoptosis in porcine models of myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion.
- To evaluate the cardioprotective effect of the novel enkephalin analogue EP 94 in different porcine models of ischaemia and reperfusion, and to see if a possible beneficial outcome could be mediated through NO-dependent mechanisms.
- To examine the distribution of the opioid receptor subtypes in the porcine heart, and to investigate how this expression is affected by ischaemia and reperfusion.

MATERIAL & METHODS

Ethics

All animal procedures conformed to the *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* published by the National Institutes of Health (NIH publication 85-23, revised in 1985). Approval for the different protocols was obtained from the local animal ethics committee.

General considerations

A total number of 138 pigs (27-49 kg) were used in the four different protocols described in the following. Throughout the experiments, if not stated otherwise, the pigs were randomized to their different treatment groups and all interventions and measurements were performed in a blinded manner to the investigator.

The porcine models – ischaemia and reperfusion procedure

Three different models of ischaemia and reperfusion were used throughout the thesis. The closed-chest model used in papers II-IV will be presented in detail, and the two different open-chest models (papers I and III, respectively) will be discussed briefly thereafter.

Closed-chest model, papers II-IV: The pigs were premedicated with acetylsalicylic acid and sedated with intramuscular tiletamine and zolazepam. After administration of atropine, general anaesthesia was induced by an intravenous injection of pentobarbital, and mechanical ventilation with 40% oxygen was performed via oral intubation. Anaesthesia and analgesia was thereafter maintained by continuous

intravenous infusions of pentobarbital and morphine, respectively. Venous access was established by a 5 French (Fr) introducer sheath through the right jugular internal vein and monitoring of mean arterial pressure and heart rate was achieved through an arterial cannula in the femoral artery. An 8 Fr introducer sheath was inserted into the right carotid artery enabling catheterization. Temperature was maintained at 37.5-39°C, if necessary through external heating.

At the commencement of catheterization all pigs received unfractionated heparin, which was repeated every hour. After stabilization, a 6 Fr PCI-guiding catheter was inserted via the arterial introducer sheath and placed in the left coronary ostium under X-ray guidance. An angioplasty balloon was inflated in the left anterior descending artery (LAD) distal to the second diagonal branch. Occlusion was verified angiographically and through ST-segment alteration on the ECG. After 40 minutes of occlusion the balloon was deflated and reperfusion verified by contrast injection. The pigs were then kept under anaesthesia for four hours, and thereafter sacrificed.

Open-chest model, paper I: In this protocol, an open-chest model was used, a concept that later developed to the closed-chest protocol used in papers II-IV. The differences compared with the closed-chest model include premedication with midazolam and ketamine, and fentanyl being infused for analgesia. Furthermore, an open-chest approach was used with a sternotomy performed from the beginning of the experiments, whereas the coronary occlusion was accomplished in the same manner, i.e. by inflation of an angioplasty balloon. The coronary occlusion was, however, maintained for 45 minutes and the reperfusion phase lasted for two hours. Finally, lidocaine was administered in order to reduce ventricular arrhythmias, and in a subset of the pigs isoflurane was used as a general anaesthetic.

Open-chest model, paper III: These experiments were carried out at the Karolinska University Hospital, Solna, Stockholm, Sweden. The pigs received the same premedication and drug administration regimen

throughout the experiment as in the closed-chest model, except for a lower dosage of morphine being infused. However, myocardial ischaemia was obtained through a ligature around the LAD, requiring the open-chest approach. Furthermore, the administration route for the investigated compound was through a thin catheter placed in the LAD distal to the ligature, admitting drug infusion into the jeopardized myocardium during ischaemia.

Analysis of CsA and EP 94 blood concentration

CsA and EP 94 blood concentrations were analyzed in pig plasma using a chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay and electrospray ionization in positive mode, respectively.

Infarct size measurements

At the end of reperfusion, a sternotomy was performed (in the closedchest model). The angioplasty balloon was inflated at the same location as during ischaemia induction. In the open-chest model (paper III), the ligature around the LAD was re-occluded. Evans blue was infused via the central venous catheter, followed by an injection of a lethal dose of potassium chloride. The heart was excised and the right ventricle and atria removed. The left ventricle was sliced in approximately 10 mm thick slices and incubated for 10 min at 37°C in 2, 3, 5-triphenyltetrazolium-chloride (TTC). The area at risk (AAR) and infarct size (IS) were defined as the areas not stained by Evans blue and TTC, respectively, and delineated by planimetry. Additionally, the mean weights of AAR and IS were calculated.

Histological processing

Harvesting of biopsies

Myocardial biopsies were taken from the control (free lateral wall) and ischaemic/reperfused areas (i.e. the lateral border of the area at risk, presumed not to be infarcted) and immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70°C until further analysis.

Real-time RT-PCR

Samples were homogenized and RNA was isolated using RNeasy Mini spin columns. cDNA was synthesized using High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kits. RT-PCR was performed to detect messenger RNA (mRNA) expression with relevant primers and probes. Relative levels of mRNA were calculated using the standard curve method and normalized to 18s ribosomal RNA.

Immunoblotting

Proteins in total homogenized cellular extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and blotted onto a polyvinyl difluoride membrane. In summary, blocking was performed in phosphate-buffered saline with 5% non-fat milk, followed by incubation with appropriate antibodies in buffered saline with 5% non-fat milk. Immunoreactive bands were visualized with horseradish peroxidase conjugated secondary antibodies. Bands were thereafter densitometrically analyzed and their readings carried out using ImageQuant software.

Immunohistochemistry

Frozen cardiac biopsies were sectioned and stained with antibodies against κ - and δ -opioid receptors. The avidin-biotin detection system

was used, and the reaction was visualized by the substrate 3,3'diaminobenzidine. Sections were slightly counterstained with hematoxylin and mounted with cellulose triacetate.

Determination of apoptosis by TUNEL staining

Apoptotic nuclei were detected by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick-end labeling (TUNEL) staining from the control, ischaemic/reperfused and infarct areas. Briefly, the sections were incubated with terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase and fluorescein-labeled dUTP. To identify all the nuclei, the sections were stained with blue fluorescent DAPI nucleic acid stain. To obtain the percentage of apoptotic cells, the number of TUNEL-positive cells was divided by the number of total DAPI-stained cells.

Intervention protocols and further analysis

In the present thesis, two different concepts in order to reduce lethal reperfusion injury were investigated: two dosages of CsA (papers I and II), and a conceptual test of the administration of enkephalin analogue EP 94 (paper III) followed by a dose-finding study for the same compound (paper IV).

Paper I

The study examined the cardioprotective effect of the administration of 10 mg/kg CsA at reperfusion in an open-chest model. In the first phase, 20 pigs were randomized to receive an intravenous infusion of either 10 mg/kg CsA (Sandimmune, Novartis, Basel, Switzerland) or vehicle for 3 minutes before reperfusion. Due to conflicting results in this phase, the study was expanded with a second phase where 16 pigs

anesthetized with pentobarbital were randomized to receive CsA or vehicle as described above.

Further analysis: RT-PCR and immunoblots were performed in order to detect proapoptotic proteins AIF, activated caspase-3 and anti-BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19 kd-interacting protein 3 (Bnip-3) in the left ventricle, and a TUNEL staining was carried out. The blood concentration of CsA was measured 45 minutes after administration.

Paper II

Despite the negative results obtained in paper I, a small study in humans reporting beneficial effects after administration of 2.5 mg/kg CsA in acute myocardial infarction¹³⁵ led us to investigate this administration regimen in our closed-chest model. A total of 24 pigs were randomized to receive either 2.5 mg/kg CsA (Sandimmune, Novartis, Basel, Switzerland) or saline given as a bolus injection seven minutes before reperfusion.

Further analysis: In additional pigs, samples of whole blood were taken 7, 27, 67 and 127 minutes after drug administration for analysis of the CsA concentration.

Paper III

The cardioprotective effect of EP 94 administration was examined in two different protocols containing 41 pigs. In protocol I, carried out in the closed-chest model, pigs were administered intravenous boluses of either vehicle or EP 94 (1 ug/kg and dose) after 5, 12, 19 and 26 minutes, or 26, 33 and 40 minutes of ischaemia. In protocol II, openchest pigs were administered vehicle or EP 94 ($0.2 \mu g/kg/minutes$) through an intracoronary infusion into the jeopardized myocardium, started 30 minutes after ischaemia induction and maintained for 15 minutes. *Further analysis:* Protein content of eNOS and phosphorylated eNOS was measured in the control and ischaemic/reperfused areas.

Paper IV

In order to further evaluate the cardioprotective effect demonstrated in paper III, a dose-finding study with administration of EP 94 at reperfusion was carried out. Using the closed-chest model, 34 pigs underwent the ischaemia and reperfusion procedure. After 26, 33 and 40 minutes of ischaemia the pigs were administered saline, or 0.2, 1, 5 or 25 μ g/kg (at each dosing time) of EP 94.

Further analysis: mRNA and protein content of the different opioid receptor subtypes were measured with RT-PCR and immunoblots in the control and ischaemic/reperfused areas. Furthermore, immunohistochemical staining was performed to localize the opioid receptors in frozen sections of myocardial tissue, and blood concentration of EP 94 was measured.



Figure 6. Interventional protocols in the different studies.

Statistical analysis

All values are presented as mean \pm SEM, except for paper I where SD was used. In all tests, a P <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Comparison of infarct size: When only two groups were compared, an unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test of equal variance was used (papers I and II). When more than two groups were included in the

comparison, analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Dunnett's post-hoc test was used (paper III). In the dose-response study (paper IV), linear regression was performed to evaluate a possible significant relationship between dose and infarct size reduction.

Haemodynamics: Differences in baseline characteristics and haemodynamic variables between groups were tested with repeated measures two-way ANOVA.

Interaction between CsA and Isoflurane: A two way ANOVA was used for analysis of infarct size and proapoptotic protein expression regarding possible interaction between the method of anaesthesia and CsA treatment.

mRNA and protein expression: When two groups were compared, an unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test of equal variance was used (papers I and III). Opioid receptor expression in the same individual (in the control and ischaemic/reperfused areas) was calculated with a paired two-tailed Student's t-test of equal variance.

RESULTS

Paper I. The cardioprotective effect of 10 mg/kg cyclosporine A

The cardioprotective potential of 10 mg/kg of CsA administered at reperfusion was investigated in 36 pigs undergoing the ischaemia and reperfusion procedure. Contrary to several studies in smaller animal models, CsA administration did not reduce infarct size in our openchest porcine model. Furthermore, CsA induced an increased expression of the proapoptotic protein AIF. Because of the conflicting results in the first phase using isoflurane as general anaesthesia, the study was expanded with a second phase with the administration of pentobarbital. When analyzing the results in the different treatment groups, a cardioprotective effect with isoflurane administration compared with pentobarbital was noted (due to the reasons mentioned in the material and methods section this part of the study was not randomized) (P < 0.05). Furthermore, a possible negative interaction between isoflurane and CsA administration was observed, with increased expression of proapoptotic proteins, and a trend towards attenuation of infarct size reduction when combining the compounds.

Conclusion: 10 mg/kg CsA administered at reperfusion did not reduce lethal reperfusion injury in an open-chest porcine model. Whereas isoflurane confers cardioprotection, the data suggest a possible deleterious interaction between CsA and isoflurane with the possible induction of the apoptotic cascade.

Paper II. The cardioprotective effect of 2.5 mg/kg cyclosporine A

When studying the lower dosing regimen of 2.5 mg/kg CsA in 24 closed-chest pigs, no protection against lethal reperfusion injury was

observed. Furthermore, analysis of CsA blood concentration revealed lower levels than were reached in humans with the same dosing regimen.

Conclusion: Intervention with 2.5 mg/kg CsA at reperfusion did not reduce lethal reperfusion injury in a closed-chest porcine model.

Paper III. The cardioprotective effect of enkephalin analogue EP 94

In this paper, the cardioprotective effects of three different administration regimens with the novel enkephalin analogue EP 94 were investigated in a total number of 41 pigs. Two different porcine protocols of ischaemia and reperfusion were used: a closed-chest model attempting to resemble the clinical situation for acute myocardial infarction, and an open-chest model with the compound being infused distally to a coronary ligation. EP 94 reduced infarct size when administered both early and late during ischaemia in the closedchest model (P < 0.05), as well as when infused into the ischaemic myocardium in the open-chest model (P < 0.01). Immunoblots revealed a possible mechanism for cardioprotection, with up-regulation of phosphorylated eNOS in relation to total eNOS in the pigs receiving EP 94.

Conclusion: The novel enkephalin analogue EP 94 reduced infarct size in two different porcine models of ischaemia and reperfusion. Increased phosphorylation of eNOS may be a part of the mechanism behind this cardioprotection.

Paper IV. Dose-dependent cardioprotection of EP 94 and opioid receptor expression in the porcine heart

In order to further investigate the potential cardioprotective effect of EP 94 we conducted a dose-finding study in our closed-chest porcine model. A total number of 34 pigs underwent the closed-chest ischaemia and reperfusion procedure, with administration of different doses of EP 94 at reperfusion. Infarct size measurements revealed a dose-response relationship between increasing doses of EP 94 and smaller infarct size (P < 0.05). mRNA for the κ - and δ -opioid receptors was detected, with a significant increase in ischaemic/reperfused areas, whereas the µ-opioid receptor was not detected. Immunoblots confirmed the existence of the κ - and δ -opioid receptors in the left ventricle, with immunohistochemical staining revealing expression by cardiomyocytes and vascular smooth muscle cells. Furthermore, an upregulation of the δ -opioid receptor in ischaemic/reperfused areas was noticed (P < 0.0001), whereas the κ -opioid receptor expression remained unaffected by the ischaemic insult. Finally, a significant negative correlation between δ-opioid receptor mRNA expression and increased body weight was observed, and a significant difference in mean body weight compared with the pigs in study III (P < 0.05).

Conclusion: Enkephalin analogue EP 94 reduced infarct size in a doseresponse manner in a closed-chest porcine model. The pig left ventricle expressed κ - and δ -opioid receptors, with an up-regulation of the δ opioid receptor in ischaemic/reperfused areas. The μ -opioid receptor was not detected.



Figure 7. Infarct size as a percentage of area at risk in the different studies. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01.

DISCUSSION

Since the initial description 50 years ago, myocardial reperfusion injury has attracted major research efforts. Despite this effort, however, no standard treatment strategy has thus far been established in the clinical setting. As outlined in the introduction section, the wealth of promising concepts presented in different experimental models have, in the vast majority of cases, turned out to be negative when translated to humans. In the present thesis, we investigated if two different compounds administered at reperfusion could reduce myocardial lethal reperfusion injury. These interventions were carried out in porcine models trying to mimic the clinical situation of acute myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion, in an attempt to confirm a possible beneficial effect in a large animal before translating the concepts to the clinical setting.

Cyclosporine A in reperfusion injury

First discovered in 1972, CsA has since been used as an immunosuppressant agent, primarily in the setting of organ transplantation. Over the last few decades, however, the compound has also been appreciated for its ability to limit lethal reperfusion injury^{22, 30-33}, possibly through inhibiting the opening of MPTP²⁹. Even though the results are disparate, several animal studies using 10 mg/kg CsA at reperfusion have reported a reduction in infarct size^{30, 136-137}. When our initial study (paper I) was carried out, this beneficial effect had only been investigated in smaller animal models, and the present study was therefore conducted in order to confirm a possible cardioprotective effect of 10 mg/kg CsA administered at reperfusion in a large animal model, before translating this concept to humans. The administration regimen, however, did not limit infarct size in our open-chest porcine model, a finding that has later been confirmed by other groups¹³⁸. In

the initial phase of the study isoflurane was used as general anaesthesia. Even though well known for its ability to protect the heart against ischaemic insult¹³⁹⁻¹⁴¹, it has only recently been suggested that this effect is mediated through inhibition of MPTP opening¹⁴²⁻¹⁴³. This led us to suspect that cardioprotection mediated by CsA could be obscured by isoflurane treatment. We therefore repeated the CsA intervention procedure with pentobarbital anaesthetics, again without establishing any protective effect, but confirming earlier reports regarding cardioprotection with isoflurane administration. In order to address the possibility that CsA treatment would reduce apoptosis by means of MPTP closure after a period of permeability, proapoptotic proteins were analyzed in the ischaemic/reperfused areas. Surprisingly, the results revealed a possible induction of apoptosis with CsA treatment and, furthermore, a possible negative interaction between isoflurane and CsA treatment, a fact supported by larger infarct size with CsA treatment compared with vehicle. Although both compounds may target the MPTP, and reports exist that CsA attenuates the anaesthetic effect of isoflurane¹⁴⁴, the mechanisms behind this possible deleterious interaction remain to be elucidated.

When analyzing the results from the first study, Piot et al reported on the usage of 2.5 mg/kg CsA as an adjunctive therapy in patients presenting with acute ST-elevation infarction¹³⁵. Although enrolling a limited number of patients, a significant reduction of both creatine kinase release and infarcted tissue measured by means of magnetic resonance imaging was noticed. This led us to consider that the dose used in paper I could have been too high, hence we conducted another series using 2.5 mg/kg CsA in a closed-chest model (paper II). This lower dose of CsA did not, however, confer cardioprotection in our model.

There are several possible explanations for the lack of effect with CsA administration in our studies. When analyzing the blood concentrations of CsA, species differences regarding pharmacokinetics of the drug are evident; administration of 2.5 mg/kg CsA in our porcine model

resulted in considerably lower concentrations compared with the clinical study. 10 mg/kg, on the other hand, resulted in higher concentrations, indicating that a dosage in the order of 5 mg/kg could reproduce the CsA blood concentrations reached in the clinical study and, possibly, cardioprotective effects encountered in humans, a fact supported by a small study in minipigs¹⁴⁵. This would, however, indicate a very narrow therapeutic window for the compound, a possible troublesome fact in the clinical setting with patients presenting with different degrees of collateral flow and difficulties in predicting the exact time for reperfusion. Furthermore, reports indicate that CsA may mediate direct negative effects on the ischaemic myocardium, including modification of the cardiac energy metabolism, destabilization of hypoxia-inducible factor 1a, impaired endotheliumderived vasodilatation in coronary arteries, and deterioration of microvascular function¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁵⁰. Finally, one cannot exclude the fact that MPTP is not as crucial for the development of lethal reperfusion injury in the pig as has been advocated for other species.

In summary, CsA did not protect against lethal reperfusion injury in two different intervention protocols in the pig. Furthermore, the present study, as well as results obtained by other groups, indicates differences regarding CsA treatment between species, a fact that may be of great importance in translational programmes when developing pharmacological strategies for myocardial protection.

The cardioprotective effect of EP 94

As in the case with CsA, opioid peptides are used in the clinical setting for other reasons than their effects on the circulatory system. Despite this fact, the great importance for opioids in the heart, both during physiological regulation and different pathological disorders, is becoming increasingly evident. A substantial amount of data indicate different opioid peptides to be important players in the heart during episodes of ischaemia and reperfusion¹¹⁷, and several compounds targeting the opioid receptor subtypes have been shown to limit infarct size in experimental settings¹¹⁷⁻¹²⁰. In analogy to CsA, most reports regarding opioids and their ability to reduce lethal reperfusion injury originate from smaller species, a premise that led us to investigate this concept in two different porcine models of ischaemia and reperfusion. In this setting, the novel enkephalin analogue EP 94 reduced myocardial infarct size when administered both during ischaemia and at reperfusion in a closed-chest model, as well as when infused into the jeopardized myocardium in an open-chest model (paper III). In order to further evaluate the cardioprotective effect of EP 94 we conducted a dose-finding study, confirming a beneficial effect of the intervention in a dose-response manner (paper IV), with the major protective effect observed in the highest dosage group. Interestingly, we were not able to repeat the cardioprotective effect from the earlier study with administration of 1 µg/kg. Comparison between the studies revealed a significant difference in mean body weight, with smaller animals in the latter study, indicating that variations in weight and age constitute a possible explanation for the differing results. This is supported by a study in rats reporting decreased expression of the u-opioid receptor during heart development¹¹¹ and, furthermore, by our finding of a significant negative correlation between δ -opioid receptor mRNA expression and increased body weight.

EP 94 has main affinity for the μ - and δ -opioid receptors and, to a lesser extent, for the κ -opioid receptor. As we were unable to detect the μ -opioid receptor in the porcine heart, δ is the probable receptor responsible for the protection encountered in our models. This reasoning is further strengthened by the literature, where most reports regarding the beneficial effects of opioids in the setting of ischaemia and reperfusion attribute this to stimulation of the δ -subtype¹¹⁷. Even though we cannot exclude a possible remote effect of the given compound, the fact that an infusion into the jeopardized tissue provided protective effects (paper III) indicates a direct action on local opioid receptors in the ischaemic myocardium.

As summarized in the introduction section, pathways responsible for the protective effects of opioids include, among others, the PI3K pathway, stimulation of PKC-δ, inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3β, opening of mitochondrial K(ATP) channels and inhibition of MPTP opening^{115, 121-126}. Furthermore, eNOS is known to confer cardioprotection in a variety of species, including the pig¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵³, and other compounds targeting G-protein coupled receptors are known to increase the expression of $eNOS^{127-128}$. We therefore addressed the possibility that eNOS could be a possible mediator of the beneficial effect observed in our porcine models. Although eNOS expression did not differ between the treatment and vehicle groups, phosphorylated eNOS (considered to be the biological active form) was significantly increased when expressed as a ratio of total eNOS after EP 94 administration. Even though several other possible mechanisms exist, and further studies are needed to confirm our findings, this represents one possible pathway for the cardioprotective effect seen with EP 94 administration. The difficulties with translating interventions from the experimental to the clinical setting, however, indicate that solely targeting one mechanism in order to reduce lethal reperfusion injury is probably not sufficient. It could, therefore, be advocated that an approach attempting to affect several different pathways, including pharmacological as well as mechanical interventions, would constitute an attractive alternative in order to reduce lethal reperfusion injury. An intervention in this context could, based on the results presented above, involve a compound targeting the opioid receptors.

Opioid receptors in the porcine heart

In addition to EP 94 intervention, we investigated the distribution of opioid receptor subtypes in the porcine left ventricle (paper IV). This

analysis demonstrated the existence of κ - and δ -opioid receptors, whereas the μ -opioid receptor was not detected, thus confirming results obtained in rat models¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴. This is, however, different from results obtained in humans, where μ - and δ -opioid receptors have been detected in both ventricles of the heart^{110, 115-116}, illustrating a possible difference between species and raising important questions regarding the translation of experimental data for opioid peptides to the clinical setting.

The alteration of opioid receptor expression in the setting of myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion is not well understood. To the best of our knowledge only one study in rats has addressed this issue, reporting an up-regulation of the κ -opioid receptor after a period of ischaemia¹⁵⁴. In our study, a significant increase of the δ -opioid receptor expression was noticed in the ischaemic/reperfused area, whereas the κ -opioid receptor expression remained unaffected. mRNA for both the κ - and δ -opioid receptors was, however, significantly increased after a period of ischaemic insult. Even though further studies are needed to explore the precise regulation of opioids in the heart, both findings indicate opioid receptors as important players in the setting of myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion.

Methodological considerations

The study design in papers III and IV included a continuous infusion of morphine throughout the experiment; a possible mediator of cardioprotection in itself¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁶. Commonly used as analgesia in the clinical setting of acute myocardial infarction, it is reassuring that the protective effect of EP 94 could be demonstrated on top of this treatment, indicating the compound as a promising cardioprotective agent. Of relevance throughout the thesis, all pigs in the four different protocols (papers I-IV) received acetylsalicylic acid and benzodiazepines. Whereas acetylsalicylic acid attenuates the cardioprotective effects of ischaemic preconditioning, statins and morphine¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁵⁹, the reports on benzodiazepines are conflicting: midazolam abrogates the protective effects of ischaemic preconditioning, while stimulation of the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor inhibits MPTP opening and limits infarct size¹⁶⁰⁻¹⁶³. Commonly used drugs to treat acute myocardial ischaemia, these possible interactions constitute important issues, both in our experimental models as well as in the clinical setting.

CONCLUSIONS

- Cyclosporine A does not reduce lethal reperfusion injury in porcine models, mimicking the clinical situation of ischaemia and reperfusion.
- The novel enkephalin analogue EP 94 confers cardioprotection in different porcine models, possibly through a NO-dependent mechanism.
- κ- and δ-opioid receptors are expressed in the left ventricle in the pig, whereas the μ-opiod receptor was not detected. δopioid receptor expression is increased after ischaemia and reperfusion.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to:

Lars Grip, tutor, former head of Department of Cardiology. For all your help, for your working capacity, for believing in me and letting me do this my way. Thank you!

Levent Akyürek, co-tutor, for guiding me through the laboratory work and lingo. Your comments really made a difference.

Sven-Olof Olofsson, co-tutor, for giving me the opportunity to attend your laboratory and share the knowledge of your co-workers.

Chrichan Månsson, for all the laughs, for enjoying lunch as much as I do, for your mastery with balloons and wires.

Niklas Bergh and Elias Spanos, for your excellent help with the experiments.

Garret J Gross, for your help with the opioid peptides in the heart.

Erik Bissessar and Eribis Pharmaceuticals, for good cooperation.

Sara Baltra, Clary Björkholm and Ann Nehlmark Lundgren, at the Laboratory for experimental medicine, EBM. You are a bunch of wonderful women, keep it up.

Per Hallgren and Mikael Holmberg, for introducing me to clinical cardiology and a lot of other stuff one ought to know in life.

To all my colleagues at the Department of Cardiology at Sahlgrenska University Hospital.

Patric Lundberg and Björn Lindkvist, for your genuine interest in my research.

My parents, for your love and support and for the hours with the small ones.

Joar, Jack and Vera, for being there, and for waking me up before dawn so we got this thesis finished.

Hanna, for all that you have done, love you!

These studies were supported with grants from:

The Swedish state under the agreement between the Swedish government and the country councils concerning economic support for research and education of doctors (ALF-agreement).

Eribis Pharmaceuticals

REFERENCES

- 1. Ginks WR, Sybers HD, Maroko PR, Covell JW, Sobel BE, Ross J, Jr. Coronary artery reperfusion. II. Reduction of myocardial infarct size at 1 week after the coronary occlusion. *J Clin Invest*. Oct 1972;51(10):2717-2723.
- Maroko PR, Libby P, Ginks WR, et al. Coronary artery reperfusion.
 I. Early effects on local myocardial function and the extent of myocardial necrosis. *J Clin Invest*. Oct 1972;51(10):2710-2716.
- **3.** Chazov EI, Matveeva LS, Mazaev AV, Sargin KE, Sadovskaia GV, Ruda MI. [Intracoronary administration of fibrinolysin in acute myocardial infarct]. *Ter Arkh*. 1976;48(4):8-19.
- 4. Rentrop KP, Blanke H, Karsch KR, et al. Acute myocardial infarction: intracoronary application of nitroglycerin and streptokinase. *Clin Cardiol*. Oct 1979;2(5):354-363.
- 5. Rentrop P, Blanke H. Percutaneous transluminal coronary artery recanalization in evolving myocardial infarction. *Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol.* 1982;5(3-4):194-196.
- 6. Aylward P. GUSTO II trial. *Aust N Z J Med.* Dec 1993;23(6):766-768.
- Burns RJ, Gibbons RJ, Yi Q, et al. The relationships of left ventricular ejection fraction, end-systolic volume index and infarct size to six-month mortality after hospital discharge following myocardial infarction treated by thrombolysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* Jan 2 2002;39(1):30-36.
- 8. Sharpe N, Doughty R. Epidemiology of heart failure and ventricular dysfunction. *Lancet.* Aug 1998;352 Suppl 1:SI3-7.
- **9.** Jennings RB, Sommers HM, Smyth GA, Flack HA, Linn H. Myocardial necrosis induced by temporary occlusion of a coronary artery in the dog. *Arch Pathol.* Jul 1960;70:68-78.
- **10.** Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ. Myocardial reperfusion injury. *N Engl J Med.* Sep 13 2007;357(11):1121-1135.
- **11.** Silverman HS, Stern MD. Ionic basis of ischaemic cardiac injury: insights from cellular studies. *Cardiovasc Res.* May 1994;28(5):581-597.
- 12. Piper HM, Abdallah Y, Schafer C. The first minutes of reperfusion: a window of opportunity for cardioprotection. *Cardiovasc Res.* Feb 15 2004;61(3):365-371.

- **13.** Garcia-Dorado D, Theroux P, Elizaga J, et al. Myocardial reperfusion in the pig heart model: infarct size and duration of coronary occlusion. *Cardiovasc Res.* Jul 1987;21(7):537-544.
- 14. Miyazaki S, Fujiwara H, Onodera T, et al. Quantitative analysis of contraction band and coagulation necrosis after ischemia and reperfusion in the porcine heart. *Circulation*. May 1987;75(5):1074-1082.
- **15.** Reimer KA, Lowe JE, Rasmussen MM, Jennings RB. The wavefront phenomenon of ischemic cell death. 1. Myocardial infarct size vs duration of coronary occlusion in dogs. *Circulation*. Nov 1977;56(5):786-794.
- **16.** Ito H. No-reflow phenomenon and prognosis in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med.* Sep 2006;3(9):499-506.
- 17. Bolli R. Basic and clinical aspects of myocardial stunning. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis.* May-Jun 1998;40(6):477-516.
- **18.** Javadov S, Karmazyn M. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening as an endpoint to initiate cell death and as a putative target for cardioprotection. *Cell Physiol Biochem*. 2007;20(1-4):1-22.
- **19.** Zorov DB, Juhaszova M, Yaniv Y, Nuss HB, Wang S, Sollott SJ. Regulation and pharmacology of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Cardiovasc Res.* Jul 15 2009;83(2):213-225.
- **20.** Halestrap AP, Clarke SJ, Javadov SA. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening during myocardial reperfusion--a target for cardioprotection. *Cardiovasc Res.* Feb 15 2004;61(3):372-385.
- **21.** Crompton M, Costi A. A heart mitochondrial Ca2(+)-dependent pore of possible relevance to re-perfusion-induced injury. Evidence that ADP facilitates pore interconversion between the closed and open states. *Biochem J.* Feb 15 1990;266(1):33-39.
- **22.** Griffiths EJ, Halestrap AP. Protection by Cyclosporin A of ischemia/reperfusion-induced damage in isolated rat hearts. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. Dec 1993;25(12):1461-1469.
- **23.** Di Lisa F, Menabo R, Canton M, Barile M, Bernardi P. Opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore causes depletion of mitochondrial and cytosolic NAD+ and is a causative event in the death of myocytes in postischemic reperfusion of the heart. *J Biol Chem.* Jan 26 2001;276(4):2571-2575.
- 24. Argaud L, Gateau-Roesch O, Raisky O, Loufouat J, Robert D, Ovize M. Postconditioning inhibits mitochondrial permeability transition. *Circulation.* Jan 18 2005;111(2):194-197.
- **25.** Hausenloy DJ, Maddock HL, Baxter GF, Yellon DM. Inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening: a new paradigm

for myocardial preconditioning? *Cardiovasc Res.* Aug 15 2002;55(3):534-543.

- **26.** Kerr PM, Suleiman MS, Halestrap AP. Reversal of permeability transition during recovery of hearts from ischemia and its enhancement by pyruvate. *Am J Physiol*. Feb 1999;276(2 Pt 2):H496-502.
- 27. Lim KH, Halestrap AP, Angelini GD, Suleiman MS. Propofol is cardioprotective in a clinically relevant model of normothermic blood cardioplegic arrest and cardiopulmonary bypass. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*. Jun 2005;230(6):413-420.
- **28.** Feng J, Lucchinetti E, Ahuja P, Pasch T, Perriard JC, Zaugg M. Isoflurane postconditioning prevents opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore through inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta. *Anesthesiology*. Nov 2005;103(5):987-995.
- **29.** Crompton M, Ellinger H, Costi A. Inhibition by cyclosporin A of a Ca2+-dependent pore in heart mitochondria activated by inorganic phosphate and oxidative stress. *Biochem J.* Oct 1 1988;255(1):357-360.
- **30.** Argaud L, Gateau-Roesch O, Muntean D, et al. Specific inhibition of the mitochondrial permeability transition prevents lethal reperfusion injury. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. Feb 2005;38(2):367-374.
- **31.** Halestrap AP, Connern CP, Griffiths EJ, Kerr PM. Cyclosporin A binding to mitochondrial cyclophilin inhibits the permeability transition pore and protects hearts from ischaemia/reperfusion injury. *Mol Cell Biochem.* Sep 1997;174(1-2):167-172.
- **32.** Nazareth W, Yafei N, Crompton M. Inhibition of anoxia-induced injury in heart myocytes by cyclosporin A. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. Dec 1991;23(12):1351-1354.
- **33.** Shanmuganathan S, Hausenloy DJ, Duchen MR, Yellon DM. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore as a target for cardioprotection in the human heart. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* Jul 2005;289(1):H237-242.
- **34.** Garlick PB, Davies MJ, Hearse DJ, Slater TF. Direct detection of free radicals in the reperfused rat heart using electron spin resonance spectroscopy. *Circ Res.* Nov 1987;61(5):757-760.
- **35.** Grech ED, Dodd NJ, Jackson MJ, Morrison WL, Faragher EB, Ramsdale DR. Evidence for free radical generation after primary percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty recanalization in acute myocardial infarction. *Am J Cardiol.* Jan 15 1996;77(2):122-127.
- **36.** Slezak J, Tribulova N, Pristacova J, et al. Hydrogen peroxide changes in ischemic and reperfused heart. Cytochemistry and

biochemical and X-ray microanalysis. *Am J Pathol*. Sep 1995;147(3):772-781.

- **37.** Zweier JL, Talukder MA. The role of oxidants and free radicals in reperfusion injury. *Cardiovasc Res.* May 1 2006;70(2):181-190.
- **38.** Hearse DJ, Humphrey SM, Chain EB. Abrupt reoxygenation of the anoxic potassium-arrested perfused rat heart: a study of myocardial enzyme release. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. Aug 1973;5(4):395-407.
- **39.** de Jong JW, van der Meer P, Nieukoop AS, Huizer T, Stroeve RJ, Bos E. Xanthine oxidoreductase activity in perfused hearts of various species, including humans. *Circ Res.* Sep 1990;67(3):770-773.
- **40.** Vinten-Johansen J. Involvement of neutrophils in the pathogenesis of lethal myocardial reperfusion injury. *Cardiovasc Res.* Feb 15 2004;61(3):481-497.
- **41.** Thompson-Gorman SL, Zweier JL. Evaluation of the role of xanthine oxidase in myocardial reperfusion injury. *J Biol Chem.* Apr 25 1990;265(12):6656-6663.
- **42.** Xia Y, Zweier JL. Substrate control of free radical generation from xanthine oxidase in the postischemic heart. *J Biol Chem.* Aug 11 1995;270(32):18797-18803.
- **43.** Zimmet JM, Hare JM. Nitroso-redox interactions in the cardiovascular system. *Circulation*. Oct 3 2006;114(14):1531-1544.
- **44.** Becker LB. New concepts in reactive oxygen species and cardiovascular reperfusion physiology. *Cardiovasc Res.* Feb 15 2004;61(3):461-470.
- **45.** Zorov DB, Filburn CR, Klotz LO, Zweier JL, Sollott SJ. Reactive oxygen species (ROS)-induced ROS release: a new phenomenon accompanying induction of the mitochondrial permeability transition in cardiac myocytes. *J Exp Med.* Oct 2 2000;192(7):1001-1014.
- **46.** Ambrosio G, Becker LC, Hutchins GM, Weisman HF, Weisfeldt ML. Reduction in experimental infarct size by recombinant human superoxide dismutase: insights into the pathophysiology of reperfusion injury. *Circulation*. Dec 1986;74(6):1424-1433.
- **47.** Jolly SR, Kane WJ, Bailie MB, Abrams GD, Lucchesi BR. Canine myocardial reperfusion injury. Its reduction by the combined administration of superoxide dismutase and catalase. *Circ Res.* Mar 1984;54(3):277-285.
- **48.** Altavilla D, Deodato B, Campo GM, et al. IRFI 042, a novel dual vitamin E-like antioxidant, inhibits activation of nuclear factor-kappaB and reduces the inflammatory response in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Cardiovasc Res.* Aug 18 2000;47(3):515-528.

- **49.** Minhaz U, Tanaka M, Tsukamoto H, et al. Effect of MCI-186 on postischemic reperfusion injury in isolated rat heart. *Free Radic Res.* May 1996;24(5):361-367.
- **50.** Wu TW, Zeng LH, Wu J, Fung KP. Myocardial protection of MCI-186 in rabbit ischemia-reperfusion. *Life Sci.* Sep 27 2002;71(19):2249-2255.
- **51.** Chambers DE, Parks DA, Patterson G, et al. Xanthine oxidase as a source of free radical damage in myocardial ischemia. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* Feb 1985;17(2):145-152.
- **52.** Downey JM. Free radicals and their involvement during long-term myocardial ischemia and reperfusion. *Annu Rev Physiol.* 1990;52:487-504.
- **53.** Flaherty JT, Pitt B, Gruber JW, et al. Recombinant human superoxide dismutase (h-SOD) fails to improve recovery of ventricular function in patients undergoing coronary angioplasty for acute myocardial infarction. *Circulation.* May 1994;89(5):1982-1991.
- **54.** Guan W, Osanai T, Kamada T, et al. Effect of allopurinol pretreatment on free radical generation after primary coronary angioplasty for acute myocardial infarction. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* May 2003;41(5):699-705.
- **55.** Tsujita K, Shimomura H, Kaikita K, et al. Long-term efficacy of edaravone in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Circ J*. Jul 2006;70(7):832-837.
- **56.** Entman ML, Smith CW. Postreperfusion inflammation: a model for reaction to injury in cardiovascular disease. *Cardiovasc Res.* Sep 1994;28(9):1301-1311.
- **57.** Jolly SR, Kane WJ, Hook BG, Abrams GD, Kunkel SL, Lucchesi BR. Reduction of myocardial infarct size by neutrophil depletion: effect of duration of occlusion. *Am Heart J.* Oct 1986;112(4):682-690.
- **58.** Zhao ZQ, Nakamura M, Wang NP, et al. Dynamic progression of contractile and endothelial dysfunction and infarct extension in the late phase of reperfusion. *J Surg Res.* Dec 2000;94(2):133-144.
- **59.** Engler RL, Dahlgren MD, Morris DD, Peterson MA, Schmid-Schonbein GW. Role of leukocytes in response to acute myocardial ischemia and reflow in dogs. *Am J Physiol*. Aug 1986;251(2 Pt 2):H314-323.
- **60.** Hatori N, Roberts RL, Tadokoro H, et al. Differences in infarct size with lidocaine as compared with bretylium tosylate in acute myocardial ischemia and reperfusion in pigs. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* Oct 1991;18(4):581-588.

- **61.** Romson JL, Hook BG, Kunkel SL, Abrams GD, Schork MA, Lucchesi BR. Reduction of the extent of ischemic myocardial injury by neutrophil depletion in the dog. *Circulation*. May 1983;67(5):1016-1023.
- **62.** Simpson PJ, Todd RF, 3rd, Fantone JC, Mickelson JK, Griffin JD, Lucchesi BR. Reduction of experimental canine myocardial reperfusion injury by a monoclonal antibody (anti-Mo1, anti-CD11b) that inhibits leukocyte adhesion. *J Clin Invest*. Feb 1988;81(2):624-629.
- **63.** Ma XL, Tsao PS, Lefer AM. Antibody to CD-18 exerts endothelial and cardiac protective effects in myocardial ischemia and reperfusion. *J Clin Invest*. Oct 1991;88(4):1237-1243.
- **64.** Weyrich AS, Ma XY, Lefer DJ, Albertine KH, Lefer AM. In vivo neutralization of P-selectin protects feline heart and endothelium in myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury. *J Clin Invest*. Jun 1993;91(6):2620-2629.
- **65.** Zhao ZQ, Lefer DJ, Sato H, Hart KK, Jefforda PR, Vinten-Johansen J. Monoclonal antibody to ICAM-1 preserves postischemic blood flow and reduces infarct size after ischemia-reperfusion in rabbit. *J Leukoc Biol.* Sep 1997;62(3):292-300.
- **66.** Ross AM, Gibbons RJ, Stone GW, Kloner RA, Alexander RW. A randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled multicenter trial of adenosine as an adjunct to reperfusion in the treatment of acute myocardial infarction (AMISTAD-II). *J Am Coll Cardiol.* Jun 7 2005;45(11):1775-1780.
- **67.** Kloner RA, Forman MB, Gibbons RJ, Ross AM, Alexander RW, Stone GW. Impact of time to therapy and reperfusion modality on the efficacy of adenosine in acute myocardial infarction: the AMISTAD-2 trial. *Eur Heart J.* Oct 2006;27(20):2400-2405.
- **68.** Devlin TM. *Textbook of biochemistry : with clinical correlations*. 7th ed. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; 2011.
- **69.** Gourine A, Gonon A, Sjoquist PO, Pernow J. Short-acting calcium antagonist clevidipine protects against reperfusion injury via local nitric oxide-related mechanisms in the jeopardised myocardium. *Cardiovasc Res.* Jul 2001;51(1):100-107.
- **70.** Gourine AV, Pernow J, Poputnikov DM, Sjoquist PO. Calcium antagonist clevidipine reduces myocardial reperfusion injury by a mechanism related to bradykinin and nitric oxide. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol*. Oct 2002;40(4):564-570.
- 71. Odenstedt J, Mansson C, Grip L. Failure to demonstrate myocardial protective effects of the ultra short-acting calcium antagonist clevidipine in a closed-chest reperfusion porcine model. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* Oct 2004;44(4):407-415.

- 72. Boden WE, van Gilst WH, Scheldewaert RG, et al. Diltiazem in acute myocardial infarction treated with thrombolytic agents: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Incomplete Infarction Trial of European Research Collaborators Evaluating Prognosis post-Thrombolysis (INTERCEPT). *Lancet*. May 20 2000;355(9217):1751-1756.
- **73.** Klein HH, Pich S, Bohle RM, Lindert-Heimberg S, Nebendahl K. Na(+)/H(+) exchange inhibitor cariporide attenuates cell injury predominantly during ischemia and not at onset of reperfusion in porcine hearts with low residual blood flow. *Circulation*. Oct 17 2000;102(16):1977-1982.
- 74. Zhang Y, Chen J, Zhang F, Xia Q. Cariporide attenuates myocardial ischaemia, reperfusion injury and apoptosis in isolated rat hearts. *Acta Cardiol.* Dec 2006;61(6):637-641.
- **75.** Satoh N, Kitada Y. Cardioprotective effect of MCC-135 is associated with inhibition of Ca2+ overload in ischemic/reperfused hearts. *Eur J Pharmacol.* Sep 19 2004;499(1-2):179-187.
- **76.** Bar FW, Tzivoni D, Dirksen MT, et al. Results of the first clinical study of adjunctive CAldaret (MCC-135) in patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention for ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction: the randomized multicentre CASTEMI study. *Eur Heart J.* Nov 2006;27(21):2516-2523.
- 77. Theroux P, Chaitman BR, Danchin N, et al. Inhibition of the sodiumhydrogen exchanger with cariporide to prevent myocardial infarction in high-risk ischemic situations. Main results of the GUARDIAN trial. Guard during ischemia against necrosis (GUARDIAN) Investigators. *Circulation*. Dec 19 2000;102(25):3032-3038.
- **78.** Zeymer U, Suryapranata H, Monassier JP, et al. The Na(+)/H(+) exchange inhibitor eniporide as an adjunct to early reperfusion therapy for acute myocardial infarction. Results of the evaluation of the safety and cardioprotective effects of eniporide in acute myocardial infarction (ESCAMI) trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* Nov 15 2001;38(6):1644-1650.
- **79.** Eefting F, Rensing B, Wigman J, et al. Role of apoptosis in reperfusion injury. *Cardiovasc Res.* Feb 15 2004;61(3):414-426.
- **80.** Monassier JP. Reperfusion injury in acute myocardial infarction. From bench to cath lab. Part I: Basic considerations. *Arch Cardiovasc Dis.* Jul-Aug 2008;101(7-8):491-500.
- **81.** Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. *Br J Cancer*. Aug 1972;26(4):239-257.
- **82.** Mattson MP, Chan SL. Calcium orchestrates apoptosis. *Nat Cell Biol.* Dec 2003;5(12):1041-1043.

- **83.** Morin D, Assaly R, Paradis S, Berdeaux A. Inhibition of mitochondrial membrane permeability as a putative pharmacological target for cardioprotection. *Curr Med Chem.* 2009;16(33):4382-4398.
- **84.** Cohen GM. Caspases: the executioners of apoptosis. *Biochem J.* Aug 15 1997;326 (Pt 1):1-16.
- **85.** Halestrap AP, Doran E, Gillespie JP, O'Toole A. Mitochondria and cell death. *Biochem Soc Trans.* Feb 2000;28(2):170-177.
- **86.** Kim GT, Chun YS, Park JW, Kim MS. Role of apoptosis-inducing factor in myocardial cell death by ischemia-reperfusion. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* Sep 26 2003;309(3):619-624.
- **87.** Ignarro LJ. Nitric oxide: a unique endogenous signaling molecule in vascular biology. *Biosci Rep.* Apr 1999;19(2):51-71.
- **88.** Michel T, Feron O. Nitric oxide synthases: which, where, how, and why? *J Clin Invest*. Nov 1 1997;100(9):2146-2152.
- **89.** Jones SP, Bolli R. The ubiquitous role of nitric oxide in cardioprotection. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. Jan 2006;40(1):16-23.
- **90.** Johnson G, 3rd, Tsao PS, Lefer AM. Cardioprotective effects of authentic nitric oxide in myocardial ischemia with reperfusion. *Crit Care Med.* Feb 1991;19(2):244-252.
- **91.** Ma XL, Weyrich AS, Lefer DJ, Lefer AM. Diminished basal nitric oxide release after myocardial ischemia and reperfusion promotes neutrophil adherence to coronary endothelium. *Circ Res.* Feb 1993;72(2):403-412.
- **92.** Walter U, Gambaryan S. Roles of cGMP/cGMP-dependent protein kinase in platelet activation. *Blood.* Oct 15 2004;104(8):2609.
- **93.** Li J, Bombeck CA, Yang S, Kim YM, Billiar TR. Nitric oxide suppresses apoptosis via interrupting caspase activation and mitochondrial dysfunction in cultured hepatocytes. *J Biol Chem.* Jun 11 1999;274(24):17325-17333.
- **94.** Sharp BR, Jones SP, Rimmer DM, Lefer DJ. Differential response to myocardial reperfusion injury in eNOS-deficient mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* Jun 2002;282(6):H2422-2426.
- **95.** Elrod JW, Greer JJ, Bryan NS, et al. Cardiomyocyte-specific overexpression of NO synthase-3 protects against myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* Jul 2006;26(7):1517-1523.
- **96.** Li G, Labruto F, Sirsjo A, Chen F, Vaage J, Valen G. Myocardial protection by remote preconditioning: the role of nuclear factor kappa-B p105 and inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* Nov 2004;26(5):968-973.
- **97.** Salloum F, Yin C, Xi L, Kukreja RC. Sildenafil induces delayed preconditioning through inducible nitric oxide synthase-dependent pathway in mouse heart. *Circ Res.* Apr 4 2003;92(6):595-597.

- **98.** Yang XP, Liu YH, Shesely EG, Bulagannawar M, Liu F, Carretero OA. Endothelial nitric oxide gene knockout mice: cardiac phenotypes and the effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor on myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Hypertension*. Jul 1999;34(1):24-30.
- **99.** Murry CE, Jennings RB, Reimer KA. Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. *Circulation*. Nov 1986;74(5):1124-1136.
- **100.** Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Preconditioning and postconditioning: underlying mechanisms and clinical application. *Atherosclerosis*. Jun 2009;204(2):334-341.
- **101.** Marber MS, Latchman DS, Walker JM, Yellon DM. Cardiac stress protein elevation 24 hours after brief ischemia or heat stress is associated with resistance to myocardial infarction. *Circulation*. Sep 1993;88(3):1264-1272.
- **102.** Przyklenk K, Bauer B, Ovize M, Kloner RA, Whittaker P. Regional ischemic 'preconditioning' protects remote virgin myocardium from subsequent sustained coronary occlusion. *Circulation*. Mar 1993;87(3):893-899.
- **103.** Zhao ZQ, Corvera JS, Halkos ME, et al. Inhibition of myocardial injury by ischemic postconditioning during reperfusion: comparison with ischemic preconditioning. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* Aug 2003;285(2):H579-588.
- **104.** Staat P, Rioufol G, Piot C, et al. Postconditioning the human heart. *Circulation.* Oct 4 2005;112(14):2143-2148.
- **105.** Thibault H, Piot C, Staat P, et al. Long-term benefit of postconditioning. *Circulation*. Feb 26 2008;117(8):1037-1044.
- **106.** Ovize M, Baxter GF, Di Lisa F, et al. Postconditioning and protection from reperfusion injury: where do we stand? Position paper from the Working Group of Cellular Biology of the Heart of the European Society of Cardiology. *Cardiovasc Res.* Aug 1 2010;87(3):406-423.
- **107.** Sorensson P, Saleh N, Bouvier F, et al. Effect of postconditioning on infarct size in patients with ST elevation myocardial infarction. *Heart.* Nov 2010;96(21):1710-1715.
- **108.** Pugsley MK. The diverse molecular mechanisms responsible for the actions of opioids on the cardiovascular system. *Pharmacol Ther.* Jan 2002;93(1):51-75.
- **109.** Barron BA. Opioid peptides and the heart. *Cardiovasc Res.* Jul 1999;43(1):13-16.
- **110.** Bell SP, Sack MN, Patel A, Opie LH, Yellon DM. Delta opioid receptor stimulation mimics ischemic preconditioning in human heart muscle. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. Dec 2000;36(7):2296-2302.

- **111.** Zimlichman R, Gefel D, Eliahou H, et al. Expression of opioid receptors during heart ontogeny in normotensive and hypertensive rats. *Circulation.* Mar 1 1996;93(5):1020-1025.
- **112.** Ela C, Barg J, Vogel Z, Hasin Y, Eilam Y. Distinct components of morphine effects on cardiac myocytes are mediated by the kappa and delta opioid receptors. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. Feb 1997;29(2):711-720.
- **113.** Krumins SA, Faden AI, Feuerstein G. Opiate binding in rat hearts: modulation of binding after hemorrhagic shock. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* Feb 28 1985;127(1):120-128.
- **114.** Ventura C, Bastagli L, Bernardi P, Caldarera CM, Guarnieri C. Opioid receptors in rat cardiac sarcolemma: effect of phenylephrine and isoproterenol. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. Dec 11 1989;987(1):69-74.
- **115.** Huang MH, Nguyen V, Wu Y, et al. Reducing ischaemia/reperfusion injury through delta-opioid-regulated intrinsic cardiac adrenergic cells: adrenopeptidergic co-signalling. *Cardiovasc Res.* Dec 1 2009;84(3):452-460.
- **116.** Villemagne PS, Dannals RF, Ravert HT, Frost JJ. PET imaging of human cardiac opioid receptors. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*. Oct 2002;29(10):1385-1388.
- 117. Gross GJ, Peart JN. Opioids and myocardial reperfusion injury. *Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss*. Mar 2007;100(3):231-237.
- **118.** Mayfield KP, D'Alecy LG. Delta-1 opioid agonist acutely increases hypoxic tolerance. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. Feb 1994;268(2):683-688.
- **119.** Traynor JR, Elliott J. delta-Opioid receptor subtypes and cross-talk with mu-receptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* Mar 1993;14(3):84-86.
- **120.** Wang GY, Wu S, Pei JM, Yu XC, Wong TM. Kappa- but not deltaopioid receptors mediate effects of ischemic preconditioning on both infarct and arrhythmia in rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. Jan 2001;280(1):H384-391.
- **121.** Obame FN, Plin-Mercier C, Assaly R, et al. Cardioprotective effect of morphine and a blocker of glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta, SB216763 [3-(2,4-dichlorophenyl)-4(1-methyl-1H-indol-3-yl)-1H-pyrrole-2,5-dione], via inhibition of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* Jul 2008;326(1):252-258.
- **122.** Forster K, Kuno A, Solenkova N, Felix SB, Krieg T. The deltaopioid receptor agonist DADLE at reperfusion protects the heart through activation of pro-survival kinases via EGF receptor transactivation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. Sep 2007;293(3):H1604-1608.
- **123.** Fryer RM, Wang Y, Hsu AK, Gross GJ. Essential activation of PKCdelta in opioid-initiated cardioprotection. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* Mar 2001;280(3):H1346-1353.

- **124.** Gross ER, Hsu AK, Gross GJ. Opioid-induced cardioprotection occurs via glycogen synthase kinase beta inhibition during reperfusion in intact rat hearts. *Circ Res.* Apr 16 2004;94(7):960-966.
- **125.** Gross ER, Peart JN, Hsu AK, Auchampach JA, Gross GJ. Extending the cardioprotective window using a novel delta-opioid agonist fentanyl isothiocyanate via the PI3-kinase pathway. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* Jun 2005;288(6):H2744-2749.
- **126.** Peart JN, Gross ER, Reichelt ME, Hsu A, Headrick JP, Gross GJ. Activation of kappa-opioid receptors at reperfusion affords cardioprotection in both rat and mouse hearts. *Basic Res Cardiol*. Sep 2008;103(5):454-463.
- **127.** Xu Z, Mueller RA, Park SS, Boysen PG, Cohen MV, Downey JM. Cardioprotection with adenosine A2 receptor activation at reperfusion. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol*. Dec 2005;46(6):794-802.
- **128.** Bell RM, Yellon DM. Bradykinin limits infarction when administered as an adjunct to reperfusion in mouse heart: the role of PI3K, Akt and eNOS. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* Feb 2003;35(2):185-193.
- **129.** Monassier JP. Reperfusion injury in acute myocardial infarction: from bench to cath lab. Part II: Clinical issues and therapeutic options. *Arch Cardiovasc Dis.* Sep 2008;101(9):565-575.
- **130.** Weaver ME, Pantely GA, Bristow JD, Ladley HD. A quantitative study of the anatomy and distribution of coronary arteries in swine in comparison with other animals and man. *Cardiovasc Res.* Dec 1986;20(12):907-917.
- **131.** Maeng M, Kristiansen SB, Mortensen UM, Andersen HR. Myocardial cooling for reperfusion injury protection achieved by organ specific hypothermic autologous perfusion. *Scand Cardiovasc J.* Sep 2003;37(5):297-303.
- **132.** Maeng M, Mortensen UM, Kristensen J, Kristiansen SB, Andersen HR. Hypothermia during reperfusion does not reduce myocardial infarct size in pigs. *Basic Res Cardiol.* Jan 2006;101(1):61-68.
- **133.** Iliodromitis EK, Georgiadis M, Cohen MV, Downey JM, Bofilis E, Kremastinos DT. Protection from post-conditioning depends on the number of short ischemic insults in anesthetized pigs. *Basic Res Cardiol.* Nov 2006;101(6):502-507.
- **134.** Smits GJ, McVey M, Cox BF, Perrone MH, Clark KL. Cardioprotective effects of the novel adenosine A1/A2 receptor agonist AMP 579 in a porcine model of myocardial infarction. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* Aug 1998;286(2):611-618.
- **135.** Piot C, Croisille P, Staat P, et al. Effect of cyclosporine on reperfusion injury in acute myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 31 2008;359(5):473-481.

- **136.** Lim SY, Davidson SM, Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Preconditioning and postconditioning: the essential role of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Cardiovasc Res.* Aug 1 2007;75(3):530-535.
- **137.** Xie JR, Yu LN. Cardioprotective effects of cyclosporine A in an in vivo model of myocardial ischemia and reperfusion. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* Aug 2007;51(7):909-913.
- **138.** Lie RH, Stoettrup N, Sloth E, Hasenkam JM, Kroyer R, Nielsen TT. Post-conditioning with cyclosporine A fails to reduce the infarct size in an in vivo porcine model. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* Aug 2010;54(7):804-813.
- **139.** Marijic J, Stowe DF, Turner LA, Kampine JP, Bosnjak ZJ. Differential protective effects of halothane and isoflurane against hypoxic and reoxygenation injury in the isolated guinea pig heart. *Anesthesiology*. Nov 1990;73(5):976-983.
- **140.** Schlack W, Preckel B, Stunneck D, Thamer V. Effects of halothane, enflurane, isoflurane, sevoflurane and desflurane on myocardial reperfusion injury in the isolated rat heart. *Br J Anaesth*. Dec 1998;81(6):913-919.
- 141. Tanaka K, Ludwig LM, Krolikowski JG, et al. Isoflurane produces delayed preconditioning against myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury: role of cyclooxygenase-2. *Anesthesiology*. Mar 2004;100(3):525-531.
- 142. Krolikowski JG, Bienengraeber M, Weihrauch D, Warltier DC, Kersten JR, Pagel PS. Inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition enhances isoflurane-induced cardioprotection during early reperfusion: the role of mitochondrial KATP channels. *Anesth Analg.* Dec 2005;101(6):1590-1596.
- **143.** Wang C, Neff DA, Krolikowski JG, et al. The influence of B-cell lymphoma 2 protein, an antiapoptotic regulator of mitochondrial permeability transition, on isoflurane-induced and ischemic postconditioning in rabbits. *Anesth Analg.* May 2006;102(5):1355-1360.
- 144. Niemann CU, Stabernack C, Serkova N, Jacobsen W, Christians U, Eger EI, 2nd. Cyclosporine can increase isoflurane MAC. *Anesth Analg.* Oct 2002;95(4):930-934, table of contents.
- 145. Skyschally A, Schulz R, Heusch G. Cyclosporine A at reperfusion reduces infarct size in pigs. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther*. Feb 2010;24(1):85-87.
- **146.** D'Angelo G, Duplan E, Vigne P, Frelin C. Cyclosporin A prevents the hypoxic adaptation by activating hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha Pro-564 hydroxylation. *J Biol Chem.* Apr 25 2003;278(17):15406-15411.

- **147.** Sudhir K, MacGregor JS, DeMarco T, et al. Cyclosporine impairs release of endothelium-derived relaxing factors in epicardial and resistance coronary arteries. *Circulation*. Dec 1994;90(6):3018-3023.
- **148.** Tatou E, Mossiat C, Maupoil V, Gabrielle F, David M, Rochette L. Effects of cyclosporin and cremophor on working rat heart and incidence of myocardial lipid peroxidation. *Pharmacology*. Jan 1996;52(1):1-7.
- **149.** Wilasrusmee C, Da Silva M, Siddiqui J, et al. Role of endothelin-1 in microvascular dysfunction caused by cyclosporin A. *J Am Coll Surg.* Apr 2003;196(4):584-591.
- **150.** Zoja C, Furci L, Ghilardi F, Zilio P, Benigni A, Remuzzi G. Cyclosporin-induced endothelial cell injury. *Lab Invest*. Oct 1986;55(4):455-462.
- **151.** Gonon AT, Bulhak A, Labruto F, Sjoquist PO, Pernow J. Cardioprotection mediated by rosiglitazone, a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma ligand, in relation to nitric oxide. *Basic Res Cardiol.* Jan 2007;102(1):80-89.
- **152.** Gonon AT, Erbas D, Broijersen A, Valen G, Pernow J. Nitric oxide mediates protective effect of endothelin receptor antagonism during myocardial ischemia and reperfusion. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* May 2004;286(5):H1767-1774.
- **153.** Gonon AT, Widegren U, Bulhak A, et al. Adiponectin protects against myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury via AMP-activated protein kinase, Akt, and nitric oxide. *Cardiovasc Res.* Apr 1 2008;78(1):116-122.
- **154.** Jin-Cheng L, Wen Y, Zhao Y, et al. Anti-arrhythmic effects of kappa-opioid receptor and its changes in ischemia and reperfusion. *Arch Med Res.* Jul 2008;39(5):483-488.
- **155.** Miki T, Cohen MV, Downey JM. Opioid receptor contributes to ischemic preconditioning through protein kinase C activation in rabbits. *Mol Cell Biochem.* Sep 1998;186(1-2):3-12.
- **156.** Sigg DC, Coles JA, Jr., Gallagher WJ, Oeltgen PR, Iaizzo PA. Opioid preconditioning: myocardial function and energy metabolism. *Ann Thorac Surg.* Nov 2001;72(5):1576-1582.
- **157.** Birnbaum Y, Lin Y, Ye Y, et al. Aspirin before reperfusion blunts the infarct size limiting effect of atorvastatin. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* Jun 2007;292(6):H2891-2897.
- **158.** Gross ER, Hsu AK, Gross GJ. Acute aspirin treatment abolishes, whereas acute ibuprofen treatment enhances morphine-induced cardioprotection: role of 12-lipoxygenase. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* Jul 2004;310(1):185-191.

- **159.** Shinmura K, Kodani E, Xuan YT, Dawn B, Tang XL, Bolli R. Effect of aspirin on late preconditioning against myocardial stunning in conscious rabbits. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. Apr 2 2003;41(7):1183-1194.
- **160.** Brown DA, Aon MA, Akar FG, Liu T, Sorarrain N, O'Rourke B. Effects of 4'-chlorodiazepam on cellular excitation-contraction coupling and ischaemia-reperfusion injury in rabbit heart. *Cardiovasc Res.* Jul 1 2008;79(1):141-149.
- **161.** Leducq N, Bono F, Sulpice T, et al. Role of peripheral benzodiazepine receptors in mitochondrial, cellular, and cardiac damage induced by oxidative stress and ischemia-reperfusion. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* Sep 2003;306(3):828-837.
- **162.** Obame FN, Zini R, Souktani R, Berdeaux A, Morin D. Peripheral benzodiazepine receptor-induced myocardial protection is mediated by inhibition of mitochondrial membrane permeabilization. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* Oct 2007;323(1):336-345.
- **163.** Rivo J, Raphael J, Drenger B, Berenshtein E, Chevion M, Gozal Y. Flumazenil mimics whereas midazolam abolishes ischemic preconditioning in a rabbit heart model of ischemia-reperfusion. *Anesthesiology.* Jul 2006;105(1):65-71.